## (Court of Appeals No. 43735-0)



# SUPREME COURT OF THE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### RAYNA MATTSON, individually,

Respondent,

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Rayna Mattson, Plaintiff in the trial court and Respondent in the Court of Appeals seeks review of Division II's opinion designated in Part II.

#### II. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Division II's opinion in this case allows a Defendant trucking company to spill the used waste oil it carries on the freeway, cause a serious roll-over collision without any comparative fault by the Plaintiff, and then claim it is not negligent as a matter of law for such spill because it did not foresee the bungee cords holding and tying the hose carrying the waste oil to its truck breaking. Significantly, Division II upheld the trial court's giving of an instruction that offered the Defendant an "excuse" for its negligence and allowed a juror to act in misconduct by interjecting improper legal standards that Division II agreed did not inhere in the verdict.

Petitioner seeks review of the decision filed on June 17, 2014 affirming the trial Court's refusal to grant Plaintiff a new trial. A copy of Opinion is located in the Appendix at A1.

### III. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. Whether Division II's decision ruling that it was proper to instruct the jury that defendants can be excused by their violation of any statute conflicts with prior Supreme Court and Court of Appeals' opinions and involves an issue of substantial public interest as it violates our state's public policy of fully compensating innocent victims of tortfeasors?

2. Whether Division II's decision ruling that there was no juror misconduct as the questions asked of the Juror who failed to disclose his prior employment as an OSHA officer did not specifically elicit that employment, but rather inquired into investigation experience, conflicts with prior Supreme Court and Court of Appeals' opinions, including *State v. Cho*, when the case law demonstrates that bias in this case was clearly implied and such background was then improperly interjected into the deliberations precluding Ms. Mattson from having a fair trial?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Given that there have been two trials in the case and now two appeals with two opinions from Division II, the procedural history leading up to this second appeal is omitted, but can be gleaned from Division II's opinion in this case.

#### B. VOIR DIRE

The SECOND trial in this case commenced on March 21, 2012 with the jury being impaneled on March 28, 2012. Just prior to Voir Dire, the jury was asked to complete Questionnaires, which sought pertinent information, including, but not limited to the juror's employment for the past 5 years and more specifically asked: "Have you or someone close to you ever worked in the following fields? (Check those that apply)" (Emphasis added) Included in those fields was "law enforcement."

Prospective Juror No. 19 (later empaneled as Juror No. 10), Enrique Mesa Reyes, stated in the Questionnaire that he worked for Costco and specifically wrote in "NONE" as to having **ever** worked in any of the fields,

including law enforcement.<sup>1</sup> (CP 38, 1478-81) He further stated that it was his "first time [on a jury] and [he didn't] know what to do," insinuating a non-opinion. (CP 39)

Conversely, the other 31 of the total 40 prospective jurors responded affirmatively to the question, noting whether they, or any family member worked in any of the noted fields and checking the applicable fields. (CP 1-81) Relating to law enforcement, four (4) prospective jurors – Jurors 26, 30, 33, and 39 – responded affirmatively that they, or someone close to them, had some involvement in that field. (CP 52, 60, 66, and 78)

At the beginning of the actual Voir Dire, the jurors were sworn in to provide truthful answers. (RP 291) The Judge specifically asked the jury, "Are there any of you who will not be able to follow the law regardless of what you personally believe the law is or ought to be?" No one replied. (RP 300)

Based upon their answers, on March 27, 2012, Plaintiff's counsel extensively questioned the prospective jurors who had affirmatively noted positive responses to the question regarding law enforcement: number 26, Gerald Jenson (RP 352-354, 373-376, 386-89), prospective juror number 30, Jennifer Dixon, (RP 337-338), and prospective juror number 33, Jane Golson, (RP 376-379) Included in much of counsel's questioning was regarding the juror's law enforcement/investigation experience. Plaintiff

<sup>1</sup> The fields were: Automotive Industry; Insurance; Business; Law; Law Enforcement; Accounting; Engineering; Claims; Medical; and Mental Health (CP 1258-60)

ultimately used a peremptory challenge on prospective juror number 26.

In follow-up to Plaintiff's counsel's questioning, defense counsel asked the entire panel:

Any of the jurors have any investigative experience as a private investigator, as a member of **law enforcement**, or as a military law enforcement, **investigating a potential crime or an accident**, <u>anything of that nature</u>? (RP 365-66) (Emphasis added)

Prospective Juror number 33, Jane Golson, was the only one to raise her hand, and defense counsel questioned her. (RP 366-367) Again, prospective juror number 19, Juror Number 10 (Mr. Reyes) failed to respond to this question and remained silent.

Defense counsel then asked the panel:

If the court gives you an instruction on the law that you're not an expert on and that law is different than what you thought it was when you walked into this courtroom, will you follow the law given you by the court? Raise your hand if you would answer that question no.

Thank you. No numbers.

(RP 368-69)

Plaintiff's counsel reiterated this:

Well, if you're instructed that's what the law is, you don't have a problem with that I take it.

Right. [Answered by prospective juror number 22]

Who has a problem? Somebody must have a problem with that. Thinking, ah, that's just a little too light. Anybody?

The only prospective juror who responded was prospective juror number 16 and Plaintiff's counsel questioned him. (RP 380-81) On the following day, March 28, 2012, Plaintiff's counsel finished voir dire

questioning the jurors who had not spoken much, or at all. (RP 418-423) Included in that inquiry was prospective juror number 19, Mr. Reyes:

MR. BARCUS: ... Number 19, we didn't talk to you, Mr. Reyes.

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 19: Yes, sir.

MR. BARCUS: You work at Costco; is that correct?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 19: Yes sir.

MR. BARCUS: Any concerns that you have about any of the topics we've discussed here?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 19: No, sir. (RP 421)

#### C. TESTIMONY AT TRIAL

At trial, the Plaintiff presented the testimony of Rayna Mattson, Trooper Karen Villeneuve (via deposition transcript), witness John Watchie (via videotaped preservation deposition), Defendant Driver Bernd Stadtherr, Defendant APES Owner Michael Mazza, and Expert Witness Chris Ferrone. Defendants called only their purported expert, Donald Lewis.

As part of his job, Defendant Stadtherr was required to log his hours and do a pre-trip inspection of the truck, and when he returns, a post-trip inspection. (RP 854) The trip inspection reports are maintained on the truck, although after July 21, 2003, he never saw them for that day again. (RP 855-56) He admitted that as a driver he is responsible for inspecting his vehicle to ensure that all of his load, cargo and attachments are secure. (RP 855) However, there is nothing on his form inspection checklist that tells a driver to check that he has secured the bungee cords or the hose(s)

that hold the cords to the truck. (RP 856)

Mr. Stadtherr admitted that he was aware that Washington law states that he cannot drive his truck onto the roadway until he has properly and safely secured everything on his vehicle, including the hoses, to prevent the attachments to the vehicle from becoming loose, detached, or in any way a hazard to other drivers. (RP 855, 858) He further admitted that he was not allowed to drive his truck on the roadway until he had properly and safely constructed and loaded his load to make sure nothing shifted, leaked, or otherwise escaped. (RP 858)

On the day of the collision, Defendant Stadtherr arrived at the American Petroleum plant and was only there for about 15-20 minutes before he left for his trip to Canada. (RP 853) A few miles after he left the APES plant and was on I-5, Mr. Stadtherr looked in his rearview mirror and saw a hose that had come off the truck trailer and was dragging on the ground behind his truck. (RP 862) The hose that was dragging was one that was normally used to suck oil of out of the tanks.<sup>2</sup> (RP 863, 890)

Defendant Stadtherr admitted that he knew back in 2003 before this collision that the stretch of I-5, which he drove every day, was very violent and bumpy on an empty truck, such that when the truck would bounce on the road, it would shake and cause things to become loose; he believed that most every trucker was aware of that problem. (RP 872-73) He also

<sup>2</sup> Defendant Stadtherr tried to change his testimony at the time of trial. (RP 863)

admitted that it is known that the bungee cords can break when they are overextended – even when they are being put on the hose to secure it. (RP 871) In fact, that is why Mr. Stadtherr would carry spare bungee cords with him. (RP 871) The bungee cords would only be replaced every three to four months unless they were damaged, or did not appear to be up to code, and the driver, such as himself, would be responsible for that determination and the replacement. (RP 871-872)

Washington State Patrol Detective Karen Villeneuve, who investigated the collision shortly after it occurred, testified in her deposition that was read to the jury that she went to and spoke with the tanker truck driver, Berndt Stadtherr, and that he admitted that a hose (containing oil) came off of his truck. (CP 1574)<sup>3</sup> She assessed that there was no other cause for the collision and she "did not see any other reason Rayna would have went off the road." (CP 1580)

Plaintiff called Mike Mazza, the president and owner of Defendant APES to testify in her case in chief. (RP 621) His company was only in business a couple of months before the subject collision. (RP 622, 636). Mr. Mazza drove to the collision scene after receiving two phone calls from Mr. Stadtherr. The first call was that there was an issue with the hose that had come off the truck, and the second call was that Mr. Stadtherr had been accused of being involved in a collision. (RP 648, 673) Mr. Mazza

<sup>3</sup> Detective Karen Villenueve's deposition that was read is found at CP 1567-1581 and the Order excluding portions of the testimony is at (CP 1464-64)

arrived at the scene within 15 minutes of receiving Mr. Stadtherr's phone call(s), between 2 and 3 o'clock; the APES truck pulled off the side of the road was about a quarter of a mile (400 yards) from the 320<sup>th</sup> Street northbound I-5 on-ramp. (RP 672, 674, 676) The testimony on direct was:

Q: You gained an understanding very quickly that there was a concern that your truck had been involved in this accident with the hose having come off and oil spilled on the road, correct?

A: That was the reason I was there. (RP 672)

As reiterated at trial, Mr. Mazza had previously testified:

Q: What is your understanding of how the hose came loose off the truck?

A: A securing device that can be called "bungee cord" in the industry broke due to poor road conditions on I-5. .... I-5 is a very rough road. In an empty truck, the truck was empty going northbound; that specific stretch of freeway is terrible in an empty truck. It bounces. The trucks were designed to be loaded, not empty. So it's very hard, very bouncy, violent in some cases.

Q: Is that something that you have to deal with on a regular basis, given that you're driving to collect loads?

A: Yes. It's a very normal thing, yes. Every trucker out there knows I-5 is bad.

Q: ... as far as exactly how it broke due to the conditions, can you explain that in a little more detail.

A: In the hose, the bungee cord, there's a long tube on the sides of the truck. The bulk of the hose is secured inside the tubes. I believe — and then the hose comes out of the tubes and it's secured using bungee cords to the back of the truck. There's a hose rack, basically n L-shaped bracked that the hose sets in. You secure the bungee over the top of that so that the hose won't bounce out of that. Obviously, the bungee broke. The violent action of I-5 caused the hose to come out of the bracket and got caught up in the front dual of the trailer.

O: So you've seen these types of things happen before, given the road

conditions?

- A: I've seen just about everything happen before.
- Q: Have you seen this type of Like where the hose breaks, the hose comes out?
- A: Yeah or excuse me.
- Q: Yeah
- A: Not specifically that, this particular situation. But I've seen hoses come off a truck before. It's usually due to driver error.

(RP 685-687) (Emphasis added)

Mr. Mazza further confirmed that when bungee cords become fatigued, it's the driver's responsibility to change them, and further, that when they are fatigued, they can break. (RP 689-691)

On the WSP Driver Vehicle Examination Report that was dated 3:05 p.m. – 3:26 p.m. on July 21, 2003 and signed by Mike Mazza on July 22, 2003, it stated that there was a violation of CFR 393.100(a):

"No or improper load securement—RCW 46.61.655 – ALLOWING ESCAPE OF LOAD – [collision causing]," and it was signed by Mr. Mazza the day after the collision, July 22, 2003.

(Exhibit 8A, RP 812-816)

It further noted that the cargo was "waste oil" despite Mr. Mazza's attempts to testify that the report did not say anything about oil. (RP 815) Not only did Mr. Mazza admit that he signed that document in two locations, which acknowledged his receipt and prior review, he admitted that "[t]he hose was considered part of the load." (RP 815)

Mr. Mazza admitted that he must strictly comply with the (Code of Federal Regulations) CFR's. (RP 632) In that regard, he testified that in order to comply with the procedures under the regulations, everything

including the hoses must be properly secured on his trucks before leaving the truck yard on any trip so they will not come off and cause a danger or an accident. (RP 634) However, checking tie downs/holds (such as bungee cords) was not part of the checklists that the drivers had to fill out. (RP 639; Exhibit 6) In any event, Mr. Mazza testified:

Q: That would fall below the standard of care that you expect as the owner of this company of your drivers not to properly make sure that the hoses are secure before a trip is begun, correct?

A: Correct.

Q: And that would be in violation of applicable code regulations, correct?

A: I believe so, ves.

Q: And you do not dispute that if one of your drivers fails to carry out their responsibilities, then you and your company are responsible for that driver's actions or inactions, correct?

A: Yes. It's the drivers position to take responsibility for the truck when he's in possession of it. And it's the company's responsibility to maintain it's within compliance being able to handle it down the road. (RP 707)

Mr. Mazza never inspected the truck, or its set up on July 21, 2003 before the collision, and he could not testify as to Mr. Stadtherr's pre or post trip inspections because the reports were supposedly thrown out. (RP 641, 643)4

Plaintiff presented expert testimony from Christopher Ferrone, a

<sup>4</sup> Despite the fact that Mr. Mazza clearly testified at the time of his deposition that he maintained all of the driver logs as part of his paperless system, at the time of trial, he claimed he destroyed them because he was not aware that his company was being alleged to have been involved in the subject collision, which as noted above, was proven to be false. (RP 650) He also destroyed the truck despite being aware that Plaintiff wanted photographs of the truck before it was destroyed. (RP 653-654)

mechanical engineer whose work is related to heavy vehicle failure and determining accident causation from an engineering point of view. (RP 473-74) Mr. Ferrone testified that he had been qualified as an expert in this regard in Courts in all 50 States, and he was accepted as an expert in this case as well. (RP 478-480)

Mr. Ferrone testified that all motor carriers in the US are governed and controlled and must comply with all DOT regulations "one hundred percent of the time." (RP 504) Mr. Ferrone is an expert regarding the federal regulations as they are such an important part of compliance in his business it is mandatory for him to understand them, and he utilizes them in the cases he works on, as well in his own personal trucking business. (RP 477) Further, in addition to educational background, he has spent the better part of his life driving big trucks. (RP 524) Specifically, in this case, Mr. Ferrone opined that because something leaked out of the truck, the Defendants were in direct violation of CFR 393.100, which states in pertinent part:

- (a) Applicability. The rules in this subpart are applicable to trucks, truck tractors, semitrailers, full trailers, and pole trailers.
- (b) Prevention against loss of load. Each commercial motor vehicle must, when transporting cargo on public roads, be loaded and equipped, and the cargo secured, in accordance with this subpart to prevent the cargo from leaking, spilling, blowing, or falling from the motor vehicle.

(RP 505-506) He explained that the oil that was residually held in the hose was cargo (a load). (RP 529)

He further explained that there is no leeway regarding compliance with the Federal codes as the regulations are non-delegable and the responsibility for their compliance cannot be given to anyone but the motor carrier. "No matter what happens it's always your fault if you're the motor carrier." (RP 506-507) He used an example and explained that:

The wheel comes off a big truck and unfortunately hits a pedestrian or hits another motorist or damages property and fortunately doesn't hurt somebody. The reasons for that wheel coming off don't matter because the motor carrier is not allowed to let its wheels come off. So you can't give that away. (RP 507)

Ironically, this is consistent with Defendant Owner Mike Mazza's testimony set forth above.

Mr. Ferrone considered the defendants' argument that they did everything that was required of them in order to secure the hose to the truck, and testified that their actions were not adequate given that the method of securement failed and it would not matter in any event given the non-delegable nature of the rules. (RP 509) Mr. Ferrone opined:

Well, my opinion is ultimately that the oil is related to this truck as a result of the hose becoming detached or partially detached from the truck and being run over by its own wheels, and as a consequence putting that oil on to the pavement. (RP 511)

Of Defendants' method of securing the hose to the truck by using bungee cords as Defendants testified, Mr. Ferrone opined that specifically is an unreasonable and inappropriate method because:

[B]ungee cords break. They shake. They can allow it to come off, which obviously that speaks for itself in this instance; that did, in fact

#### fail for whatever reason. (RP 511-513)

He further testified that such method does not constitute ordinary care. (RP 513)

Mr. Ferrone testified that (1) there was no other evidence to suggest that anything but oil on the freeway from the defendants' truck or the ruptured hose from the truck caused Rayna Mattson's collision to occur; (2) that Defendants had exclusive control of their vehicle and the hose that ruptured before and up to the time Rayna's collision occurred; and (3) that the subject collision would not have occurred but for negligence, such as the spilling of oil in this case. (RP 515-517)

Specifically, he testified that all of the physical evidence confirms that Defendants were negligent:

They have a duty to be in compliance, which essentially says don't spill – in their business, not to spill. They didn't succeed in that duty, and that duty was directly in my opinion, related to the accident. (RP 532-536)

He reiterated in cross-examination:

[W]e have the physical evidence in very close proximity in very close chronology of this incident, which is very hard to not include in the analysis. Yet there's no other evidence to show any other source. (RP 538-539)

He also testified that contrary to the Defendants' suggestion that the hose would not have contained much oil, a full hose that is the size of the hose that ruptured in this case -- 40 feet long and two inches in diameter -- would hold approximately six and a half gallons. (RP 517-518) Mr. Ferrone explained however, that it did not make any difference specifically

how much oil would be left in a hose such as in this case:

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