RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Aug 06, 2014, 10:21 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 90532-1

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RAYNA MATTSON, individually,

Petitioner,

v.

AMERICAN PETROLEUM ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES, INC., a Washington corporation; and BERND STADTHERR and "JANE DOE" STADTHERR, individually, and the marital community comprised thereof,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

William J. O'Brien, WSBA #5907 Law Office of William J. O'Brien 999 Third Avenue, Suite 805 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 515-4800 Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

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

We may say generally that we are unable to understand how the jury could have arrived at any other verdict than it did. In the first place, the jury could have found, under the facts in this case and the instructions, that a reasonable inspection of the truck and trailer was made, and that due care was exercised to see that the trailer lights were burning. In addition, they could reasonably have inferred that the trailer lights were in fact burning until the collision, that the force of the collision disconnected one of the wires in the trailer light cable, causing the lights of the trailer to go out. If they did so find *in either case*, then respondent would not be guilty of negligence.

(emphasis added.) Id. at 84. Brotherton v. Day & Night Fuel Co., 192 Wash. 362, 73 P.2d 788 (1937) (defendant driver's violation of statute, which required trucks to display lighted tail lights after dark, was not negligence per se where evidence indicated driver had inspected the lights and found them working shortly before the accident); Wood v. Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul & Pacific R.R. Co., 45 Wn.2d 601, 608-09, 277 P.2d 345 (1955) (same).

In this case, there was ample evidence of due care exercised by APES with respect to the inspection of the truck and its equipment to support the excuse portion of Instruction 16. Inspection in compliance of federal or state regulations of working tail lights, a bungee, a tire in good condition, followed by a failure of tail lights, or a bungee or tire "may" excuse (as to a third party) the statutory violation i.e., of a spill on the road. RP (4-2-12):934, 936; CP 2645.

There was testimony from APES' well-qualified expert, Donald Lewis, that oil in an empty hose was not "cargo" to which the regulations apply. RP (4-2-12):934-35; RP (4-3-12):1032. He also testified that a regulation may not be violated merely because a problem ensues on the road, using the example of a tire. RP (4-2-12):937-38; RP (4-3-12):1027-30.⁸

In sum, Mattson cannot point to anything *in law* that makes for strict liability to a third party on the part of a motor carrier for literally

⁸ Responding to a hypothetical set of facts posed to him, Lewis explained that if a truck tire blew out leaving debris on the roadway, and such debris caused another vehicle to have an accident, such event would not result in a violation of a federal trucking regulation as long as the driver had performed a proper pre-trip inspection of the tire and found it in good working order. See RP (4-2-12):937-38. This testimony alone renders Mattson's assertion in her petition at 21, 22 that the defense presented *no* evidence that any hose problems were due to a cause beyond their control totally false.

anything that occurs on the road. The trial court was correct in adding the phrase at issue to Instruction 16, as the Court of Appeals determined, consistent with this Court's jurisprudence. Op. at 16-19. Review of this issue is not merited under RAP 13.4(b).

(2) The Court of Appeals Properly Concluded That There Was No Juror Misconduct Here

Mattson further claims that juror misconduct supports an award of a new trial under CR 59(a)(1). Pet. at 29-38. Mattson's claim is based on the inadmissible declaration⁹ of Matthew Besteman, the one juror who did not agree with the 11 other jurors that APES was not negligent. RP 1222-24; CP 3192-99. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying a motion for a new trial based on juror misconduct.¹⁰ The Court of Appeals'

⁹ A party may not, in the guise of claiming juror misconduct, seek to introduce evidence regarding jury deliberations, because such evidence inheres in the verdict and is inadmissible. *Gardner v. Malone*, 60 Wn.2d 836, 840-41, 376 P.2d 651 (1962). A juror's "mental processes" inhere in the verdict. *Cox v. Charles Wright Acad., Inc.*, 70 Wn.2d 173, 179-80, 422 P.2d 515 (1967). *See also, Breckenridge v. Valley General Hospital*, 150 Wn.2d 197, 206-07, 75 P.3d 944 (2003) (Court holds that declaration from juror discussing other juror's statements about his wife's emergency room experiences as a factor in jury deliberations inhered in the verdict).

Here, Besteman complained that most of the jury panel had their minds made up upon entering the jury room. CP 3194. Besteman's declaration also stated that Juror 10 explained, based on his experience with OSHA standards and the Washington State Patrol's inadequate investigation, Mattson had not proven that APES was negligent. CP 3194. Under *Cox* and *Breckenridge*, Besteman's affidavit was *inadmissible* because it addressed matters that inhered in the jury's verdict.

¹⁰ McCoy v. Kent Nursery, Inc., 163 Wn. App. 744, 757, 260 P.3d 967 (2011), review denied, 173 Wn.2d 1029 (2012). Issues relating to alleged juror misconduct are left to the trial court's discretion as that court is best able to discern if a juror's actions prejudiced the jury deliberations and resulting verdict. Halverson v. Anderson, 82 Wn.2d

decision was well within this Court's decisions like Cox and Breckenridge, and Court of Appeals decisions like McCoy.

Even if the Besteman affidavit were admissible, Mattson failed to establish juror misconduct. Mattson contends that Juror 10 failed to answer questions posed in voir dire truthfully and that he somehow provided "extrinsic evidence." Pet. at 29-38. Mattson mischaracterizes the record. At most, the affidavit addresses the procedures of jury deliberation and the fact that Juror 10 brought his experiences as a former OSHA investigator to bear on the issues before the jury. Neither was misconduct. *McCoy*, 163 Wn. App. at 767 (juror's comment during deliberation relaying her past experience and explaining her individual thought processes and reasons for weighing the evidence as she did inhere in the verdict and provide no basis for challenging that verdict). The Court of Appeals properly concluded that such "evidence" inhered in the jury's verdict. Op. at 39, 41.

Besteman's affidavit *nowhere* states that Juror 10 made any statements about his association with OSHA *before* the jury voted. CP

^{746, 752, 513} P.2d 827 (1973). Before a court can overturn a verdict based on juror misconduct, a party must make a strong, affirmative showing of misconduct "to overcome the policy favoring stable and certain verdicts and the secret, frank and free discussion of the evidence by the jury." *State v. Balisok*, 123 Wn.2d 114, 117-18, 866 P.2d 631 (1994), *cert. denied*, 536 U.S. 943 (2002).

3192-94.¹¹ It would appear that his statements were made in connection with the State Patrol's evidence gathering at the scene. But if the jury concluded that APES' truck did not spill oil on the roadway, any statement by Juror 10 was at most surplusage or harmless error as the jury had essentially already determined APES was not negligent.

Jurors come to a jury with real life experiences and their discussion of such experiences in deliberations is not misconduct, as this Court specifically noted in *Breckenridge*, 150 Wn.2d at 204. There, a juror related his wife's experiences with migraines to his fellow jurors in a case in which the plaintiff experienced migraine headaches. This Court found no misconduct. 150 Wn.2d at 199.¹²

¹¹ Besteman's declaration was also disingenuous. Besteman asserted that he recalled two lengthy portions of the court's instructions verbatim; he neglected to point out how many of the jurors in the first vote found that there was no negligence on the part of APES; he stated only 4 or 5 jurors said anything right after the initial vote and does not mention there was another vote in which any juror was persuaded by another - i.e., by something Juror 10 allegedly said, for example; he allegedly tried to engage the group in a discussion and says it lasted only a brief time. CP 3192-94. As for the hearsay attributed to Juror 10, there are no quotes. It is unclear if he was talking about the investigation being inadequate to prove the oil came from the truck – a matter that goes to causation which is irrelevant as the jury found no negligence, whether the oil came from the truck or not. Moreover, the Besteman affidavit indicates that the jurors voted 11-1 to find no negligence. The fact that other jurors were not receptive to Besteman's viewpoint does not support misconduct. Besteman was a disgruntled minority juror who disagreed with all 11 of his fellow jurors. RP 1222-24; CP 3192-94.

¹² This view is consistent with *numerous* Washington decisions. See Richards v. Overlake Hosp. Med. Ctr., 59 Wn. App. 266, 274, 796 P.2d 737 (1990), review denied, 116 Wn.2d 1014 (1991) (juror, who had some medical background and offered her opinion to her fellow jurors that the plaintiff's mother's flu history explained plaintiff's birth defects, did not engage in misconduct); Chiappetta v. Bahr, 111 Wn. App. 536, 543, 46 P.3d 797, review denied, 147 Wn.2d 1018 (2002) (juror's personal experiences with back injuries not misconduct); McCoy, 163 Wn. App. at 767-68 (no juror misconduct in

Mattson's additional contention that Juror 10 introduced "extrinsic evidence" into the jury deliberations thereby requiring a new trial, pet. at 30-33, also fails. While it is true that the jury's consideration of "novel or extrinsic evidence" is misconduct and can be grounds for a new trial, *see Balisok*, 123 Wn.2d at 118, Juror 10's alleged comments merely related his life experiences and thought processes in reaching his conclusion that Mattson had failed to meet her burden of proving APES was negligent. CP 3194. There was no introduction of extrinsic evidence warranting a new trial. *See Breckenridge*, 150 Wn.2d at 199.¹³ The Court of Appeals properly concluded that this "evidence" was not extrinsic evidence and inhered in the verdict. Op. at 41.

Mattson finally contends that because Juror 10 failed to disclose his long past prior employment as an OSHA investigator during voir dire and made reference to his experiences during jury deliberations, a new trial was warranted. Pet. at 33-38. That is not so. Juror 10 did not

the face of allegations by the plaintiffs that the jury procedures were improper and one juror spoke of her problems with the County on permitting, and another spoke of his experience with clay pipes).

¹³ Juror 10's alleged mention of his past experience with OSHA standards was purportedly relayed in the context of confirming the inadequacy of the State Patrol's investigation of the accident. CP 3194. Such comments were not outside the evidence. APES argued at trial that the accident investigation was inadequate, and the evidence supported that contention. RP 1191, 1201; CP 1574 (no measurements taken at accident scene). Juror 10's alleged comments merely reflected that his life experience comported with the evidence presented on the matter and revealed his thought processes in reaching

willfully fail to disclose material information in response to voir dire inquiries. Rather, Mattson cannot establish the first prong of the *McDonough* test regarding improper responses in voir dire because Juror 10 was never asked the appropriate question to reveal such background.¹⁴ As the Court of Appeals discerned, op. at 40-41, none of the questions posed to Juror 10 indicated that Juror 10 failed to honestly answer any question put to him.

Mattson's complaints to the Court of Appeals were: the juror questionnaires asked about employment history in listed fields including "law enforcement;" APES' counsel asked the potential jurors if anyone had investigation experience; Mattson's counsel asked Juror 10 if he had "any concerns" about anything discussed in voir dire; and the trial court and counsel asked the jurors if there was anyone who would not follow the

his conclusion. There is no indication that he applied a different legal standard or introduced novel evidence into the deliberations.

¹⁴ To obtain a new trial for a juror's failure to speak during voir dire, the party asserting juror misconduct "must prove (1) that 'a juror failed to answer honestly a material question on voir dire' and (2) that 'a correct response would have provided a valid basis for a challenge for cause." In re Detention of Broten, 130 Wn. App. 326, 337, 122 P.3d 942 (2005), review denied, 158 Wn.2d 1010 (2006) (adding italics) (quoting McDonough Power Equip., Inc. v. Greenwood, 464 U.S. 548, 553, 556, 104 S. Ct. 845, 78 L.Ed.2d 663 (1984)). As noted in Broten, "'[t]o invalidate the result of a 3-week trial because of a juror's mistaken, though honest, response to a question, is to insist on something closer to perfection than our judicial system can be expected to give." Broten, 130 Wn. App. at 337 n.4 (quoting McDonough, 464 U.S. at 555). Mattson did not prove that Juror 10 gave a dishonest answer at voir dire.

law as instructed by the court. See Br. of Appellant at 102-03; RP 300, 365-68, 421; CP 38.

None of these inquiries obliged or suggested that Juror 10 should reveal his past employment experience as a former OSHA investigator. The questionnaire's inquiry about "law enforcement" clearly asked if any juror had been *a police officer*. CP 38 [sealed].¹⁵ APES' counsel's question to potential jurors was actually: "Any of the jurors have any investigative experience as a private investigator, as a member of law enforcement, investigating a potential crime or an accident, anything of that nature?" RP 365-66. As asked, that question did not suggest that Juror 10's past experience as an OSHA investigator need be revealed. The same is true for plaintiff's counsel's inquiry whether Juror 10 had "any concerns" about matters discussed in vor dire. RP 421. Finally, there is no indication that Juror 10 failed to follow the law as instructed by the court. As discussed above, Juror 10 merely divulged that his decision on the verdict comported with his life experience.¹⁶

¹⁵ The colloquial understanding of law enforcement usually means a sworn officer.

¹⁶ Mattson's petition relies principally upon *State v. Cho*, 108 Wn. App. 315, 30 P.3d 496 (2001), a criminal case in which a former police officer failed to disclose his former service as a police officer in response to a *specific question* regarding former employment as a police officer, according to the trial court's recollection of voir dire questions. *Id.* at 326-27. Moreover, there was direct evidence that the juror misrepresented his history in order to be seated on the jury. *Id* at 326. Thus, *Cho* is

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Mattson's CR 59 motion for a new trial, and the Court of Appeals carefully and properly analyzed the issue, affirming the trial court. Op. at 36-41. Review is not merited on this issue.

(3) <u>Mattson's Notice of Appeal to the Court of Appeals Was</u> <u>Untimely</u>

This Court could conclude that review is not necessary here because Mattson's original notice of appeal was untimely and the Court of Appeals lacked jurisdiction to even consider Mattson's appeal.¹⁷

Mattson filed her notice of appeal late, and filed a motion in the Court of Appeals asking it to accept her late filing based on alleged confusion of her counsel and her staff regarding the e-filing process in the Pierce County Superior Court LINX system. APES opposed the late filing. In a notation ruling, the Commissioner permitted the late filing. APES filed a motion to modify, which a Division II panel denied. That was error.

The inability of Mattson's counsel or her staff to navigate Pierce County's e-filing system is not the type of "extraordinary circumstance"

distinguishable from the facts here where Juror 10 answered the question posed to him accurately.

¹⁷ This Court may deny review on the basis of any issues presented below as it may affirm the trial court on any grounds supported by the record. *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 493, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997).

under RAP 18.8(b) that warrants excusing the 30-day time limit of RAP 5.2(e).

Numerous appellate court decision have indicated that RAP 18.8(b) is not easily satisfied in this regard. See, e.g., Reichelt v. Raymark Indus., Inc., 52 Wn. App. 763, 765, 764 P.2d 653 (1988); Beckman ex rel. Beckman v. State, Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 102 Wn. App. 687, 693, 11 P.3d 313 (2000). Negligence of a party is not an "extraordinary circumstance." Id. Similarly, internal office management problems do not meet the test. Id. at 695.

Mattson's notice of appeal to the Court of Appeals was 2 weeks late. No "extraordinary circumstance" under RAP 5.2(e) justified a tardy filing. This is another basis upon which this Court could decline to accept review here.

E. CONCLUSION

The jury was properly instructed by the trial court on the law and it exonerated APES and Stadtherr from liability, as the Court of Appeals ruled in its unpublished opinion. Mattson's arguments for review by this Court are baseless under RAP 13.4(b). The jury's verdict should stand. DATED this 6th day of August, 2014.